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EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90-01 

WHEREAS, the four count indictment pursuant to Section 11-19-20, S. C. Code of Laws 

against Mr. Curtis Baggett, Supervisor of McCormick County, has been dismissed under a directed verdict of 

acquittal by the South Carolina Circuit Court; and 

WHEREAS, there are no further criminal indictments pending against Mr. Baggett; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Baggett was suspended from office pursuant to Executive Order 89-50, 

issued October 21, 1989. 

NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to the authority vested in me by the Constitution and 

laws of this State, I hereby order that Mr. Curtis Baggett be reinstated as Supervisor of McCormick County and 

immediately resume the duties and responsibilities of that office. 

ATTEST: 

:rt>HNT. CAMPBELL 
Secretary of State 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE STATE OF 
SOUTH CAROLINA, THIS~DAY 
OF JANUARY, 1990. 

\Lro.~ 
CARROLL A. CAMPB 
Governor 
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~tute of ~out4 ([urolittu 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90-02 

WHEREAS, the Coastal counties of South Carolina experienced a winter storm and up to 

sixteen (16") inches of snow and sub-freezing temperatures during the period of December 26, 1989 through 

December 28, 1989; and 

WHEREAS, the winter stonn caused the freezing and subsequent breaking of water mains and 

house plumbing throughout the area rendering many homes and vital installations without water and thereby 

representing a threat to the health, safety, security and welfare of citizens of South Carolina in those areas. 

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of the power and authority vested in me as Governor 

pursuant to the Constitution and The South Carolina Code of Laws. 1976, as amended, I declare that a state of 

emergency existed in Charleston County, and that I directed the South Carolina National Guard to provide water, 

assist civil authorities, and take all reasonable action as was necessary to provide for protection of life and property. 

Selected members of the National Guard were placed on State duty status in order to accomplish missions arising 

from the emergency. 

ATTEST: 

J N T. CAMPBELL 
ecretary of State 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE STA21:F 
SOUTH CAROLINA, THIS tJ.._ DAY 

~~~~a~~J. 
CARROLL A. CAMPBELL, i . 
Governor 



"':~-tdl 
t-..c;..-:Ii~· C:=CPiETMivOlfsTA1E 

F§ LED 
JAN 111990 

~tab~ nf ~nut~ <tTarnliua 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90-03 

WHEREAS, David Whetstone, Sheriff of Calhoun County passed away on 
January 2, 1990, and 

WHEREAS, Section 23-11-40( c) of the The Code of Laws of South Carolina, 

1976, as amended, proscribes the Governor may appoint some suitable person to hold the office 
until a sheriff is elected and qualified; and 

WHEREAS, Section 23-11-40(b) provides that a specific election shall be held 

when a vacancy in the office of sheriff occurs more than one year prior to the next general election 
for county sheriff; and 

WHEREAS, the next general election for county sheriff is more than one year 

from the date the office of sheriff in Calhoun County becomes vacant; and 

WHEREAS, Section 7-13-190 of the Code provides a timetable for setting an 

election, whenever a section of the Code proscribes a special election whenever a vacancy occurs; 
and 

WHEREAS, I, as Governor of the State of South Carolina, am mindful of the 

duties and responsibilities vested in me by the Constitution and laws of the State of South 
Carolina. 



Executive Order No. 90-03 
Page two 

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of such authority, I hereby appoint Mr. 
Gregory Whetstone of Post Office Box 415, St. Matthews, South Carolina 29135, acting 

Sheriff of Calhoun County until a successor is elected in a special election. 

Furthermore, in accordance with Section 7-13-190, I order a special election to be 

held on May 8, 1990. Filing period primaries and run-offs shall occur in accordance with Section 
7-13-190 of the Code. 

ATTEST: 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND THE GREAT 
SEAL OF THE STATE OF §l>UTH 
CAROLINA, THIS _ II 
DAY OF JANUARY, 1990. 

---~----I 



JAN 17 .. 1990 

~tut.e uf ~uut4 QJuruiiltu 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 

90-04 

WHEREAS, the citizens of South Carolina are exposed to dangers to life and 

property caused by the elements of nature and the mistakes of man; and 

. WHEREAS, natural and man-made disasters will inevitably befall the inhabitants 

of this state; and 

WHEREAS, the office of the Governor shall act to promote and foster the safety, 

protection and well-being of the citizens and residents of this state; and 

WHEREAS, a comprehensive and effective review of emergency management 

procedures and programs is prudent and useful after a large scale natural disaster so that future 

operations and programs will benefit when other disasters occur; and 

WHEREAS, there should be advice and consultation by experts in the emergency 

management field. 

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of the power conferred upon me by the 

Constitution and laws of the state of South Carolina, I hereby establish the Governor's emergency 

management review panel. 



Executive Order No. 90-04 
Page two 

This emergency review panel shall review state and local responses and plans for 

natural and man-made disasters. This panel shall consist of local, state and national authorities in 

the field of emergency management appointed by the Governor. The chairman of this panel shall 

also be appointed by the Governor. The panel shall include: 

Two representatives of the Governor's Office; 

The Adjutant General (or his designee); 

The Chief of the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) (or his 

designee); 

One representative from the broadcast media; 

One representative from the print media; 

One county Emergency Management director; 

One representative from a non-profit emergency management response 

organization; 

A representative (current or former employee) from the Federal Emergency 

Management Agency (FEMA); 

Two nationally recognized experts in the field of emergency management; 

One representative from the S. C. Association of Counties; and 

One representative from the S. C. Municipal Association. 

A final report from the Council to the Governor will be due on June 1, 1990. This 

Executive Order shall take effect immediately upon signature. 

ATTEST: 

:tOlIN T. CAMPBELL 
Secretary of State 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE STATE/Ill( 
SOUTH CAROLINA, THIS _ 
DAY OF JANUARY, 1990. 

.-----------_._-
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EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 

90-05 

FIL D 
JAN 15 1990 

WHEREAS, as a result of Hurricane Hugo, it is estimated that 36% of the State's 

12.2 million acres of forested land received damage, causing an immediate loss to the forest 

products industry; and 

WHEREAS, extensive damage was incurred on the State beaches, necessitating 

substantial replenishment of the beach area prior to tourist season and the planting of dune 

vegetation; and 

WHEREAS, as a result of this destruction of our timberland and beaches, an 

emergency continues to exist making it necessary to salvage and use as much of the damaged 

timber as possible in the shortest length of time possible so as to minimize total waste and rottage 

of this valuable natural resource and to replenish sand; and 

WHEREAS, it is necessary to expedite the delivery of this perishable natural 

resource to consuming manufactures both inside and outside the state of South Carolina. 

NOW, THEREFORE, I hereby direct the South Carolina Department of 

Highways and Public Transportation to continue its moratorium for sixty (60) days on the vehicle 

gross weight of vehicles set forth in Section 56-5-4140. However, the overall gross vehicle 

weight shall not exceed ninety thousand (90,000) pounds and will include a maximum single axle 

weight not to exceed twenty thousand (20,000) pounds and a maximum tandem axle weight not to 

exceed forty thousand (40,000) pounds. This moratorium is for vehicles transporting trees and 

their by-products, and sand and rip-rap, as a result of the devastation caused by Hurricane Hugo. 
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This Order shall be effective immediately for a period of sixty (60) days. If 

warranted, this Order may be extended. This Order rescinds Executive Order No. 89-54. 

ATTEST: 

~-;:'~ 
JOHN T. CAMPBELL 
Secretary of State 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND 
THE GREAT SEAL OF THE STATE~ 
OF SOUTH CAROLINA, THIS~_ 
DAY OF JANUARY, 1990. 
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EXEClJTIVE ORDER NO. 90-06 
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FEB 02 1990 

Ii 
\ , 

WHEREAS, the Treasurer of Georgetown County, Mr. D. Z. McKenzie, passed 
away on November 20, 1989; and 

WHEREAS, Section 4-11-20, Code of Laws of South Carolina. 1976 (1987 

Cum. Supp.), empowers the Governor to fill vacancies in any office of any county of the state as 
provided therein; and 

WHEREAS, I, as Governor of the State of South Carolina, am mindful of the 

duty and responsibility vested in me by the Constitution and laws of this state. 

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of such authority, I hereby appoint Ms. 

Loretta D. Washington, Post Office Box 1834, Georgetown, South Carolina 29443 to fill 
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the vacancy in the office of Treasurer of Georgetown County effective immediately and until the 

next general election for such office is held and a successor is elected and qualified. 

ATTEST 

fOHNT. CAMPBELL 
Secretary of State 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREA T SEAL OF THE STATE QD-­
SOUTH CAROLINA, THIS _31 ~ DA Y 
OF JANUARY, 1990. 

• 

Governor 
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EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90-07 

WHEREAS, the Bowman Municipal Election Commission has determined that an election 

for City Council is required as a result of a councilmember's resignation; and 

WHEREAS, I have been duly notified of the Commission's determination and requested to 

order a special election pursuant to the authority vested in me by Section 7-13-1170, Code of Laws of South 

Carolina, 1976, (Cum. Supp. 1987). 

NOW, THEREFORE, under the authority vested in me by Section 7-13-1170 of the 

Code, I hereby order that an election be held for Bowman City Council on April 17, 1990. The election shall be 

conducted by the Bowman Municipal Election Commission in accordance with applicable constitutional and 

statutory provisions. The voting places to be used in conducting the election shall be the established precinct voting 

places. 

Notice of the holding of this election shall be given by the respective authority charged by law 

with conducting an election in the city of Bowman in accordance with Section 7-13-35 of the Code. as amended. 

ATTEST: 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE STATE OF· 
SOUTH CAROLINA, THIS 19'rA DAY 
OF JANUARY, 1990. 

\LJI;) 
CARROLL 
Governor 

• 



~tat~ of ~out4 <!Iaroliua 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90-08 

WHEREAS, the State of South Carolina has empowered the Governor to appoint 

at his discreti9n such additional deputies, constables, security guards and detectives as he may 

deem necessary to assist in the detection of crime and the enforcement of any criminal laws of this 

state under Section 23-1-60 of South Carolina Code of Laws ("Code"); and 

WHEREAS, there exists certain obligations and responsibilities that must be 

followed before an individual may be appointed a deputy, constable, security guard or detective; 

and 

WHEREAS, the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) may 

prescribe such law enforcement training before an appointment shall be made; and 

WHEREAS, it is the interest of the State to insure individuals are competent and 

receive adequate training to perfonn such duties that are required of the individual so appointed; 

and 

WHEREAS, those individuals appointed are granted statewide authority and 

should, therefore, be given the necessary training to insure compliance with laws of this state and 

to better serve the public; and 

WHEREAS, such authority divested in these individuals is statewide, and 

appointments should be limited to those individuals who require such statewide authority. 
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NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to the powers conferred upon me by the 

Constitution and laws of the State of South Carolina, no person shall be appointed or certified as a. 

constable except in accordance with the policies and procedures adopted by SLED and approved by 

the Governor. These policies and procedures may be amended from time to time without the 

issuance of a new Executive Order. The policies and procedures, as amended, shall be made 

available to all applicants. Failure to abide by these procedures will subject the individual to the 

immediate revocation by the Governor as granted under Section 23-1-60 of the Code. 

ATTEST: 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND 
THE GREAT SEAL OF THE STATE 
O~OlJTH CAROLINA, THIS 

~21:t DAY OF MARCH, 
1990. 

CARROLL A. CAMPB 
Governor 
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EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 
90-09 

WHEREAS, Geraldine (Jerre) Dixon, the Mayor of the Town of Blacksburg, has 

been convicted by the Jury of Cherokee County on one count of shoplifting, a crime involving 

moral turpitude; and 

WHEREAS, Article VI, Section 8 of the South Carolina Constitution provides 

that in the case of conviction of any officer of the State or its political subdivisions for a crime 

involving moral turpitude such office shall be declared vacant; and 

WHEREAS, Section 5-7-200 S. C. Code of Laws, 1976 ("Code") provides the 

grounds for forfeiture of office of mayor, if a mayor is convicted of a crime involving moral 

turpitude, and provides for a special election; and 

WHEREAS, Section 5-7-190 of the Code provides the Mayor pro tempore shall 

serve as mayor, if a vacancy occurs in the office of mayor, until a successor is elected; and 

WHEREAS, I am mindful of the obligations and duties placed on me by the 

statutes and Constitution of South Carolina. 
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NOW, THEREFORE, I do hereby declare the office of the Mayor of the Town 

of Blacksburg vacant and that the Mayor pro tempore, David A. Hogue of Post Office Box 144, 

Blacksburg, South Carolina 29702, shall serve as Mayor until such time that a special election may 
be held and a successor is elected and qualified to serve. 

ATTEST: 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND 
THE GREAT SEAL OF THE STATE 
OF S<llJTH CAROLINA, THIS 
1. tJ e DAY OF MARCH, 
1990. 

CARROLL A. CAMPBELL, 
Governor 



APR J 8 1990 
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EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90-10 

WHEREAS, the Small and Minority Business Assistance Office 
was created in 1981 by Act No. 148, effective July 30, 1981, with duties 
shown in Title II, Chapter 35, Article 21 of the Code of Laws of South 
Carolina 1976, as amended; and, 

WHEREAS, the purpose of this office, now called the Office of 
Small & Minority Business Assistance (OSMBA) is to support the interest of 
small and minority businesses as a vital part of the state's free enterprise 
system; and, 

WHEREAS, OSMBA is charged in Article 21 to aSSist in the 
identification of responsive small and minority businesses, and receive and 
process applications to be registered as a minority business in accordance 
with Section 21-35-5230 (B); and. 

WHEREAS, substantial concern has been expressed about 
applications being made by those businesses that claim to be owned and 
controlled by minorities, women or other disadvantaged groups, but which. 
in fact. are not eligible and should not. therefore. be eligible for 
participation; and. 

WHEREAS, OSMBA has the power to revoke the certification of 
any business that does not meet nor maintain the requirements for causes 
shown in Section 11-35-5270(6); and, 

WHEREAS, reasonable and fair regulations are required for 
determining whether a business is socially and economically disadvantaged 
for the purpose of meeting the intent of Article 21. 
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Executive 
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90-10 

N W THEREFORE, pursuant to the powers conferred upon me 
by the Constitu ion and laws of the State of South Carolina, I hereby adopt 
the rules and r gulations as promugated by the Office of Small and 
Minority Busin ss for determining if a business is socially and 
economically d sadvantaged, and meets the intent of the laws of the State 
of South Caroli a. The South Carolina regulations shall remain in force 
until such time that the Governor, the General Assembly of the State of 
South Carolina, or the administrative rule making process of the State of 
South Carolina shall provide regulations governing the certification of 
businesses that are socially and economically disadvantaged. 

ATTEST: 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND 
THE GREAT SEAL OF THE STATE 
O. F S~iH CAROLINA, THIS 
~ DA Y OF APRIL, 1990 . 

• 
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EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90·11 

WHEREAS, the manpower resources of the State of South 
Carolina are vital to the Economic growth of the state; and 

WHEREAS, a partnership between the private sector and 
government is necessary to improve economic development and job 
creation; and 

WHEREAS, the effective deployment of financial and 
institutional resources from the Job Training Partnership Act of 1982 will 
serve the end of improving the quality of life for citizens of the state by 
providing job training and related assistance to economically 
disadvantaged individuals and others who face significant employment 
barriers and to move trainees into permanent self-sustaining employment; 
and 

WHEREAS, the coordination of the employment and training 
resources be properly planned, implemented and operated to ensure the 
effective delivery of employment service and training. 
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NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of the powers conferred upon 
my by the Constitution and laws of this State, I hereby transfer the 
Division of Employment and Training from the Governor's Office of 
Executive Policy and Programs to the S. C. Employment Security 
Commission. This transfer will occur on May 2, 1990. 

ATTEST: 

N T. CAMPBELL 
cretary of State 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE STATE OF..!. 
SOUTH CAROLINA, THIS_ ~". 
DAY OF APRIL, 1990. 

~,. mu~ 1A1!. 
CARROLL A. CAMPBELL, JR: 
Governor 



~tate of ~out4 QIarolitta 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90.12 

I A I 
I 4' I j 

WHEREAS, South Carolina has recognized the need to provide social and 

academic opportunities for high school students drawn from all parts of South Carolina who have 

demonstrated exceptional academic achievement, intellectual potential, and creativity; and 

WHEREAS, a scholars program can provide accelerated instruction in a variety 

of disciplines in an environment of higher learning; and 

WHEREAS, a program dedicated to the ideas of liberal arts education and the 

search for new areas and ways of learning will produce students who are self-aware, cultured, and 

knowledgeable about many fields of study; and 

WHEREAS, such special educational opportunities are vital to the future of the 

state. 

NOW, THEREFORE, by the virtue of the power conferred upon me by the 

Constitution and laws of the state of South Carolina, I hereby authorize the Governor's School of 

South Carolina at the College of Charleston as an organization with continuing existence since 

1976. 

The governing body of the Governor's School at the College of Charleston is the 

Board of Trustees of the College of Charleston, and the Governor's School is managed by the 

College. The course of study is determined by the College, and instruction will be college-level 

with students receiving college-level credit, if appropriate. 
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The dates of the program will be determined by the College with the length of the 
program to be four to five weeks. 

The chief administrative officer of the School will be the director, who is appointed 

by the College, with approval of the Board. The College may adopt policies and regulations as it 

considers necessary for the operation and management of the School. 

The College will establish criteria, standards and procedures for admission of 

students into the program. Students must be rising high school seniors who are legal residents of 

South Carolina and have been identified by their schools as academically and creatively gifted to be 
eligible for admission. 

All activities undertaken in connection with the school must comply with state and 

federal laws prohibiting discrimination based on race, sex, national origin, religion, or handicap. 

The College may establish an advisory committee for the School, and may establish 

and maintain an endowment fund for the school. 

ATTEST: 

~(~ 
Secretary of State 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND 
THE GREAT SEAL OF THE STATE 
OF SOIJTH CAROLINA, THIS 

11if: DAY OF APRIL, 1990. 

~.~QQ~. 
CARROLL A. CAMPBELL~JR: 
Governor 
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EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 
90-13 

r jf I j 

WHEREAS, the Auditor of Darlington County, Ms. June DeMaurice, has 

submitted a letter of resignation effective May 1, 1990; and 

WHEREAS, Section 4-11-20, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976 empowers 

the Governor to fill vacancies in any offices of any county of the state as provided therein; and 

WHEREAS, I, as Governor of the State of South Carolina, am mindful of the 

duty and responsibility vested in me by the Constitution and laws of this state. 

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of such authority, I hereby appoint John J. 

James of 106 Oak Drive, Darlington, South Carolina 29532, to fill the vacancy in the office of 

Auditor of Darlington County upon the effective date of the resignation of June DeMaurice until the 

next general election for such office is held and a successor is elected and qualified to serve. 

ATTEST: 



~tate nf ~nutlt {!1arnlina 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90-14 

WHEREAS, the South Carolina House of Representatives has adjourned sine die 

pursuant to Section 2-1-180 Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976 (1989 Cum. Supp.); and 

. WHEREAS, the South Carolina State Senate has voted to recede until a date no 

later than June 21, 1990; and 

WHEREAS, one house of the General Assembly has adjourned and the other 

House receded, "subject to the call of the chair"; and 

WHEREAS, in view of the above cited facts and other conditions, I find that 

there is a disagreement between the two houses with respect to the time of adjournment; and 

WHEREAS, Article IV, Section 19 of the South Carolina Constitution provides 

that in case of disagreement between the two houses during any session with respect to the time of 

adjournment, the Governor may adjourn them to such time as he shall think proper, not beyond the 

time of the annual session then next ensuing; and 

WHEREAS, I am mindful of the duties and responsibilities placed on me by the 

Constitution and laws of this state; and 
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WHEREAS, a majority of the Senate and the House of Representatives has 

indicated its support for a concurrent resolution setting a specific agenda for consideration of 

matters currently before the General Assembly and an adjournment time of 5:00 p.m. on June 19, 

1990. 

NOW, THEREFORE, I hereby order that both houses of the General Assembly 

are adjourned until June 19, 1990 at 12:00 noon, and at which time the regular session shall be 

resumed to complete the work of the General Assembly. 

ATTEST: 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND 
THE GREAT SEAL OF THE STATE 
OF S~H CAROLINA, THIS 

/< - DAY OF JUNE, 1990. 

I 
I 
I 
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EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90.15 

WHEREAS, There will exist a vacancy in the office of Probate Judge for Lee 

County due to the death of Mr. Tom B. DuBose; and 

WHEREAS, Section 14-23-50 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, 

empowers the Governor to fill any vacancy in the office of probate judge by appointment; and 

WHEREAS, I, as Governor of the State of South Carolina, am mindful of the duty 

and responsibility vested in me by the Constitution and laws of this state. 

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of such authority, I hereby appoint Mrs. Kathryn 

Marguerite Vaughn of Route 1, Box 166B, Bishopville, South Carolina 29010, to serve as Probate 

Judge of Lee County, effective immediately for the remainder of the term, and until the next 

general election for probate judge is held and a successor is elected and qualified to serve. 

ATTEST: 

JOHN T. CAMPBELL 
Secretary of State 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE STATE OF SOUTH 
CAROLlNA, TIDS ~ ~ DAY OF 
JUNE,1990. 

\J .. ~~~1. 
CARROLL A. C ELL, TJ 
Governor 
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EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90·16 

WHEREAS, there will exist a vacancy in the office of Clerk of Court for 

Greenwood County due to the resignation of Mrs. Pat Estes effective June 30, 1990, and 

WHEREAS, Section 14-17-30, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, empowers the 

Governor to fill any vacancy in the office of Clerk of Court by appointment as provided in Section 

4-11-20 of the Code; and 

WHEREAS, J, as Governor of the State of South Carolina, am mindful of the duty 

and responsibility vested in me by the Constitution and laws of this state. 

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of such authority, I hereby appoint Mrs. Pat 

Massey Dan-agh, 118 PopslStreet, Greenwood, South Carolina 29649, to serve as Clerk of Court of 

Greenwood County, effective immediately, for the remainder of the term, and until the next 

general election for Clerk of Court is held and a successor is elected and qualified to serve. 

ATTEST: 

J=6iiNT: CAMPBELL 
Secretary of State 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF mATE OF SOUTH 
CAROLINA, TIDS DAY OF 

,1990. 
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EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90-17 

WHEREAS, the Treasurer of Sumter County, Mrs. Margaret K. Davis, retired· 

effective June 30,1990; and 

WHEREAS, Section 4-11-20, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976 (1987 Cum. 

Supp.), empowers the Governor to fill vacancies in any office of any county of the state as provided 

therein; and 

WHEREAS, I, as Governor of the State of South Carolina, am mindful of the duty 

and responsibility vested in me by the Constitution and laws of this state: 

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of such authority, I hereby appoint Mrs. 

Elizabeth C. Hair of 206 Vernon Drive, Sumter, South Carolina 29150 to fill the vacancy in the 
-

office of Treasurer of Sumter County effective immediately and until the next general election for 

such office is held and a successor is elected and qualified. 

ATTEST: 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF 'W~ STATE OF SOUTH 
CAROLINA, THIS ~ __ DAY OF JULY, 1990 . 

• 

Governor 
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FILED 
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EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90·18 

WHEREAS, the state will not be able to prosper unless the students of this state are 

adequately educated for the jobs of tomorrow; and 

WHEREAS, the state must continue to improve its primary and secondary 

education system; and 

WHEREAS, the Education Improvement Act established a commitment to state­

level education reform and this commitment was continued by Target 2000; Reform for the Next 

Decade; and 

WHEREAS, accountability measures established by the EIA and continued by 

Target 2000 are recognized as critically important to meaningful change for excellence in 

education, and 

WHEREAS, the technology of testing and measurement has evolved since 

passage of the EIA in 1984 and further development of accountability is needed if education 

improvement is to continue to be a state priority. 

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of the powers conferred upon me by the 

Constitution and laws of this state, I hereby create the Governor's Task Force for Educational 

Accountability, which is to serve as a body for reviewing issues concerning testing, assessment 

and measurement as related to public school accountability. The members of the Task Force will 

be appointed by the Governor and shall consist of: (see listing attached for suggested membership) 
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The Governor's Task Force for Educational Accountability shall be charged with: 

1. Examining the scope and nature of the existing testing programs in South 

Carolina, including the effectiveness of existing security practices, and their interaction with and 

impact on other educational programs and professional development activities mandated under 

the EIA and Target 2000. 

2. Reviewing national techniques and innovations in testing and assessment being 

used or in development for statewide assessments. Such review will include, but not be limited to, 

the philosophy and the intended purposes behind the National Assessment of Educational Progress 

(NAEP). 

3. Examining steps taken by other states to ensure accountability in their education 

system. 

4. Reviewing steps that could be taken to align our existing statewide efforts toward 

accountability with the newly established National Education Goals, including a statewide 

strategy for implementation and accountability towards achieving the goals. 

5. Developing recommendations for guiding policy decisions concerning testing, 

assessment and measurement as related to public school accountability. 

This Task Force shall have 24 members appointed by the Governor. The membership shall 

include six members of the General Assembly, six recognized business and community leaders, 

four recognized experts in the field of educational testing, one member representing the Palmetto 

State Teachers Association, one member representing the South Carolina Educational 

Association, one member of the State Board of Education, the Commissioner of Higher Education, 

one parent, one member of a local school board, one superintendent of a local school district, and 

one principal of a public school. 



~ 
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The Task Force shall report its findings and recommendations to the Governor for his 

consideration and review no later than March 1, 1991. To assist in the implementation of its 

charge pursuant to this Order, the Task Force may create such advisory committees or 

subcommittees as it deems necessary. The Governor's Office, Division of Education, will serve 
as staff to the Task Force. 

ATTEST: 

JOHN T. CAMPBELL 
Secretary of State 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE STATE OF SOUTH 
CAROLlNA, TIllS :aZ +~ DAY OF 
JULY, 1990. 

CARROLL A. CAMPBELL, JR. 
Governor 

'1 

~----------------------------------------------------------



~tate of ~outq {!larolitta 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90-19 

WHEREAS, the Treasurer of Union County, Mr. James W. Cheek, died on June 

9,1990;and 

WHEREAS, Section 4-11-20, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976 (1987 Cum. 

Supp.), empowers the Governor to fill vacancies in any office of any county of the state as provided 

therein; and 

WHEREAS, I, as Governor of the State of South Carolina, am mindful of the duty 

and responsibility vested in me by the Constitution and laws of this state. 

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of such authority, I hereby appoint Ms. Diane 

Smith Wilkins, Route 2, Box 227, Jonesville, South Carolina 29353 to fill the vacancy in the office 

of Treasurer of Union County effective immediately and until the next general election for such 

office is held and a successor is elected and qualified. 

ATTEST: 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF TH~STATE OF SOUTH 
CAROLINA, THIS iI- DAY OF JULY, 1990 . 

., 

Governor 

------------------------------.------------
___ I 



EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 
90-20 

~~ 'r.c:~~~ 
t-.c:.--:::s ~cR~I!:'f A'i{:iofS1A' 

FILED 
JUl25 1990 

WHEREAS, THE SEAT REPRESENTING THE BEAUFORT/BLUFTON 

DISTRICT ON THE BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL IS VACANT DUE TO THE 

RESIGNATION OF CECIL REYNOLDS; AND 

WHEREAS, THE RESIDENTS OF THE BEAUFORT/BLUFTON DISTRICT 

OF BEAUFORT COUNTY ARE CURRENTLY WITHOUT REPRESENTATION ON COUNTY 

COUNCIL; AND 

WHEREAS, SECTION 4-11-20 OF THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH 

CAROLINA, 1976, (CUM. SUPP. 1989) GRANTS TO THE GOVERNOR DISCRETIONARY 

AUTHORITY TO FILL VACANCIES OF COUNTY OFFICES UNTIL SUCH TIME AS A 

SUCCESSOR SHALL QUALIFY; AND 

WHEREAS, I AS GOVERNOR OF THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, AM 

MINDFUL OF THE DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES VESTED IN ME BY THE 

CONSTITUTION AND LAWS OF THIS STATE. 
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NOW, THEREFORE, I DO HEREBY APPOINT MRS. ELIZABETH GRACE 

OF 509 NORTH STREET, BEAUFORT, SOUTH CAROLINA 29901, A REGISTERED ELECTOR 

OF BEAUFORT COUNTY, TO SERVE ON THE BEAUFORT/ BLUFTON SEAT ON THE 

BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL UNTIL HER SUCCESSOR SHALL BE QUALIFIED AS 
PROVIDED BY LAW 

ATTEST: 

JOHN T. CAMPBELL 
Secretary of State 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE STATE OF SOUTH 
CAROLINA, TInS d.S~'-- DAY OF~/~' 
1990 • 

..... _---------._-------------_._._._-_._-
CARROLL A. CAMPBELL, JR. 
Governor 



~tut~ of ~out4 (fJuroliltu 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90.21 

WHEREAS, There will exist a vacancy in the office of Probate Judge for 

Abbeville County due to the resignation of Ms. Bessie Lee Nance; and 

WHEREAS, Section 14-23-50 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, 

empowers the Governor to fill any vacancy in the office of probate judge by appointment; and 

WHEREAS, I, as Governor of the State of South Carolina, am mindful of the duty 

and responsibility vested in me by the Constitution and laws of this state. 

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of such authority, I hereby appoint Mrs. Carol F. 

Speer of Route 1, Box 98, Calhoun Falls, South Carolina 29628, to serve as Probate Judge of Abbeville 

County, effective immediately for the remainder of the term, and until the next general election 

for probate judge is held and a successor is elected and qualified to serve. 

ATTEST: 

JOitN T.CAMPBELL 
Secretary of State 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE STATE OF SOUTH 
CAROLINA, THIS DAY OF 
AUGUST, 1990. ~ 

~'h J1;) Q}),-Jffi · 
CARROLL A. CAMPBELL, JR. 
Governor 



~tat.e of ~outq QIarolilta 

EXEClJTIVE ORDER NO. 
EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 

90-22 

WHEREAS, THERE EXIST A VACANCY IN SEAT NO.1 OF THE BOARD OF 

COMMISSIONERS OF RICHLAND COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT ONE DUE TO THE DEATH 

OF MR. SAM HEYWARD; 

WHEREAS, THE RESIDENTS OF RICHLAND COUNTY ARE CURRENTLY 

WITHOUT ONE REPRESENTATIVE ON THE DISTRICT ONE SCHOOL BOARD; AND 

WHEREAS, ACT NO. 613 OF 1986 PROVIDES THAT VACANCIES ON A SCHOOL BOARD 

MUST BE FILLED IN THE SAME MANNER AS VACANCIES ON COUNTY COUNCIL UNDER 

SECTION 4-9-90 SOUTH CAROLINA CODE OF LAWS,llllfi.. (CUM. SUPP. 1989); AND 

WHEREAS, SECTION 4-11-20 OF THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH 

CAROLINA, 1976, (CUM. SUPP. 1989) GRANTS TO THE GOVERNOR DISCRETIONARY 

AUTHORITY TO FILL VACANCIES OF ELECTED OFFICERS UNTIL THE NEXT GENERAL 

ELECTION; 

WHEREAS, SECTION 1-3-220 OF THE QQDE. ALSO PROVIDES THAT THE GOVERNOR 

SHALL APPOINT AN INDIVIDUAL TO FILL ANY VACANCY IN A COUNTY OFFICE .... 

NOW, THEREFORE, I DO HEREBY APPOINT MR. JASPER 

SALMOND, OF 4035 CORNADO DRIVE, COLUMBIA, SOUTH CAROLINA 29203, A 

REGISTERED ELECTOR OF RICHLANDCOUNTY, TO SERVE ON THE BOARD OF 



COMMISSIONERS OF RICHLAND SCHOOL DISTRICT ONE UNTIL HIS SUCCESSOR SHALL 

BE ELECTED AND QUALIFIED AS PROVIDED BY LAW 

ATTEST: 

OHN T. CAMPBE 
Secretary of State 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE ~TATE OF SOUTH 
CAROLINA, TIllS I 3"tJ DAY OF 
SEPI'EMBER, 1990. 

~,.~aQ~. 
CARROLL A CAMPBELL, JR. 
GOvernor 



~tutc of ~out4 QIuroIinu 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90-23 

WHEREAS, Paul Alexander Simmons, Orangeburg County 
Coroner, has been indicted by the Federal Grand Jury of one charge of violating 
21 U.S.C., §841(a)(1) and §846 which deals with attempting to possess with intent 
to distibute a quanity of cocaine. 

WHEREAS, I am informed that Paul Alexander Simmons will be 
brought to trial pursuant to said indictments; and 

WHEREAS, Article VI, §8 of the South Carolina Constitution 
requires the Governor to suspend any officer of the State or its political 
subdivisions who is indicted for a crime on a charge involving moral turpitude; 
and 

WHEREAS, I, as Governor of the State of South Carolina, am 
mindful of the duties and responsibilities vested in my by the Constitution and 
Laws of the State. 

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of such authority, it is ordered 
that Paul Alexander Simmons, Orangeburg County Coroner, be and hereby is 
suspended from that office until such time as he shall be formally acquitted. 
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This action in no manner addresses itself to the question of the guilt 
or innocence of Paul Alexander Simmons and shall not be construed as an 
expression of any opinion one way or another on the question. 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND 
AND THE GREAT SEAL OF 
THE STATE OF SOUTH 
CAROLINA, THIS _ l'f 
DAY OF SEPTEMBER, 1990 

\J .. .tQQ.~. 
ATTEST: 

CARROLL A. CAMPBELL, 
Governor 

----------------------------------_____ .1 



~xc~utiuc ~cpttrttttcttt 
~-""!"""---1Ili'A1I 

1 

~tat~ of ~outq aIaroliua 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 
90·24 

WHEREAS, the arts enrich the quality of life in South Carolina by providing 

diverse disciplines of study, practice, pursuit and pleasure; and 

WHEREAS, artistic skills can be preserved, cultivated and enhanced by the 

maintenance and improvement of an organized program of arts education; and 

WHEREAS, the youth of the present will become the artists, performers, 

professors, teachers and arts administrators of the future. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in order to establish a more fertile environment 

throughout South Carolina for the advancement and intensive training of young artists, I do 

hereby establish the Board of Directors of the Governor's School for the Arts (hereinafter called the 

"Board"). 

The Board shall consist of 17 members named by the Governor. The appointees 

shall include 7 Members from the State at-large for terms of three years; 1 Member from each 

Congressional District for a term of three years; 2 Governor's Designees; and 2 Ex-Officio 

members. The Chief Executive Officer of Furman University, and the Superintendent of the 

School District of Greenville County shall serve ex-officio. The Governor shall designate as 

Chairman one ofthe at-large members who shall serve at the pleasure of the Governor. 
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The Board shall review and make recommendations to the Governor's School for 

the Arts and the Governor's Office on budgetary matters affecting the Governor's School prior to 

the release of state funds for the school. The Board shall provide direction to the Governor's School 

for the Arts on matters of major importance to its success. The Board shall develop and implement 

an on-going funding program to secure contributions from the private sector for the advancement 

of the goals, objectives and operations of the Governor's School for the Arts. The Board shall 

periodically review and report to the Governor on the progress and success of the Governor's School 

for the Arts. 

General staff support for the Board of Directors of the Governor's School for the Arts 

shall be provided by the Greenville County School District. The staff of the Governor's Office and 

other agencies may be utilized by the Board at appropriate times. 

ATTEST: 

J6HN T. CAMPBELL 
Secretary of State 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE SXATE OF SOUTH 
CAR0LW:~ TIllS .21. DAY OF 
":s~.6M..... , 1990. 

\J .. ~Q~ dAlJ· 
CARROLL A. CAMPBELL, JR 
Governor 



-----~-------

~tat£ of ~out~ (ftarolilta 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 
90-25 

WHEREAS, the Emergency Management Review Panel was formed to conduct a 

"review" [of] state and local [emergency] responses and plans for n~tural and manmade disaster"; and 

WHEREAS, the Emergency Management Review Panel has fulfilled its task and 

submitted its final report to the Governor; and 

WHEREAS, many of these recommendations are a reasonable and prudent approach 

to correct emergency management problems in South Carolina; and 

WHEREAS, expert and experienced advice from citizens and friends of South 

Carolina is important in correcting known deficiencies; and 

WHEREAS, overSight functions are a necessary and reasonable method for 

monitoring the implementation of important changes in state practices that bear upon the safety of the 

citizens of this state; and 

WHEREAS, it is incumbent upon the Executive Office to promote and encourage 

useful modifications and changes to the state's emergency management structure. 

---------------------------------------------------
_,._1 
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NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of the power conferred upon me by the Constitution 

and laws of the State of South Carolina, I hereby establish the South Carolina Emergency 

Preparedness Advisory Council ("Council"). 

The Council shall monitor the implementation of the Emergency Management Review 

Panel report submitted to the Governor and shall act as an oversight function to advise the Executive 

Office of the State of South Carolina. 

The Council shall consist of local, state and national authorities with interests in 

emergency management issues to be appoint~d by the Governor. The chairman of the panel shall be 

designated by the Governor. The panel shall include: 

ATTEST: 

Two representatives from the Office of the Governor; 

One representative from the South Carolina Budget and Control Board; 

One representative from the Adjutant General's Office; 

One representative from the Law Enforcement community; 

One representative from the News Media; 

One representative from County Government; 

One representative from Municipal Government; and 

One representative from the Utility Industry. 

This Executive Order shall take effect immediately upon signature. 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE GREAT 
SEAL OF ~E STATE OF ~~ROLINA' 
TIllS c2-1 DAY OF ~ 1990. 

Governor 

JOHN T. CAMPBELL 
Secretary of State 



~x~.cutiu~ ~~partm~1tt 

~tut.e of ~out4 <1Iurolil1u 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90-26 

WHEREAS, the town of Jackson, South Carolina, wishes to hold a referendum to 

change its form of government from a council form to a mayor/council form; and 

WHEREAS, the Town of Jackson Municipal Election Commission has ruled that 

the special referendum held on the matter on May 1, 1990, was invalid; and 

WHEREAS, I have been duly notified of the Commission's determination and 

requested to order a special election pursuant to the authority vested in me by Section 7-13-1170, 

Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, (Cum. Supp. 1989). 

NOW, THEREFORE, under the authority vested in me by Section 7-13-1170 of 

the Code, I hereby order that an election be held to choose the form of government of Jackson, South 

Carolina, on November 6, 1990. The election shall be conducted by the Town of Jackson Municipal 

Election Commission in accordance with applicable constitutional and statutory provisions. The 

voting places to be used in conducting the election shall be the established precinct voting places. 

Notice of the holding ofthis election shall be given by the respective authority 

charged by law with conducting an election in the town of Jackson in accordance with Section 7-13-

35 of the Code, as amended. 

ATTEST: 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE STATE OF SOUTH 
CAROLINA,TlDS lit.."'- DAY OF \S:.l)990. 
CARROLL A. CAMPBELL, 
Governor 



~tate of ~out~ OIarolina 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90-27 

WHEREAS, the state of South Carolina has recently suffered the effects 
of torrential rains and flooding; and 

WHEREAS, the state has consulted with the appropriate agencies of 
the federal government regarding eligibility for those areas of the state affected by 
the storms; and 

WHEREAS, it is the concern and duty of the state to seek to alleviate 
damages and assist the state's governments and citizens in pursuing remedies; and 

WHEREAS, substantial damages occurred within ten (10) counties; and 

WHEREAS, it is the duty of the Chief Executive to assure the public 
safety and aid the citizens of the state. 
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NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of the power conferred upon me by the 
Constitution and laws of the State of South Carolina, I hereby declare a state of 
emergency exists in the following counties: Lee, Cherokee, Sumter, Kershaw, 
Calhoun, Aiken, Darlington, McCormick, Chesterfield and Spartanburg. 

ATTEST: 

~IIN T. CAMPBELL 
Secretary of State 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE ST&E OF SOUTH 
CAROLINA, TIllS , f DAY OF 
October, 1990. 

Governor 



~x:e~utiu:e :!B:ep artm:eltt 

OCT 2 6 1990 

~tnt~ nf ~nutly <!Inrnlittn 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 
90·28 

WHEREAS, the Office of the Governor has been contacted by the Federal Voting 

Assistance Program of the Office of the Secretary of Defense for the purpose of informing the State 

that the Pre~idential Designee under the Uniformed and Overseas Citizens Absentee Voting Act, 

42 U.s.C. 1973ff, has authorized electronic transmissions of election related materials including 

absentee ballots; and 

WHEREAS, the Presidential Designee recognizes emergency conditions relatEld 

to Operation Desert Shield; and 

WHEREAS, this authorization is for the limited period of the November 6,1990, 

General Election; and 

WHEREAS, the Governor's Office has consulted with the State Chairmen of the 

Democrat and Republican Parties and has received their endorsement of this attempt to provide 

access to the ballot for the men and women participating in this operation, and has attempted to 

consult with the State Chairman ofthe Libertarian Party. 

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of the power conferred upon me by the 

Constitution and laws of the State of South Carolina, do hereby certifY that recent events in the 

Middle East, which have required the immediate assignment of thousands of American military 

personnel who reside in South Carolina to a military operation known as Operation Desert Shield, 

constitute a statewide disaster, for the reason that these men and women may be injured by a 

deprivation oftheir constitutional right to vote in the November 6, 1990 General Election. 
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I proclaim the existence of such disaster and direct that all necessary measures be 

implemented to meet that disaster including the use of electronic transmission in the voting 

process. Pursuant to Article 7, Chapter 3, Title 1, I hereby authorize and direct the South Carolina 

State Election Commission and the Board of Voter Registration in each ofthe forty-six (46) 

counties to comply to the fullest extent possible with the federal Act and to do everything in their 

power to ensure that each South Carolina resident in Saudia Arabia is given an opportunity to vote. 

Specifically, I order each county or voter registration to send by electronic transmission, upon 

request, a copy of the relevant absentee ballot to the appropriate military office in Saudia Arabia. 

The State Election Commission is hereby directed to notify the appropriate county 

officials and to proscribe such rules, regulations or directives as necessary to protect the integrity 

of the military ballot while providing for the systematic and orderly transmission of the ballots in 

order to be received for the General Election. 

In accordance with the statutory requirements, copies of this proclamation shall be 

filed with the applicable authorities. 

This Executive Order shall be effective immediately and shall remain in full force 

and effect for the period of fifteen (15) days. 

ATTEST: 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE STATE 0& 
SOUTH CAROLINA, THI&-<h-DAY 
OF OCTOBER, 1990. 

~,. J)Q\L 1~. 
CARROLL A. CAMPBELL, JR~ 
Governor 

~~~-----, 



jjj 

~tate nf~nut4 ararnlitta 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 
90-29 

WHEREAS, I have been empowered by the laws of South Carolina 
to declare Christmas Eve of each year a holiday for state government employees. 

NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to Section 53-5-20, Code of Law'i 
of South Carolina, 1976, I hereby declare December 24, 1990, a legal holiday for 
state government employees in South Carolina. 

ATTEST: 

16HN T. CAMPBELL 
Secretary of State 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE STA~~& 
SOUTH CAROLINA, THIS _ 
DAY OF NOVEMBER, 1990. 

Governor 



~tatc nf ~nut4 <tIarnlitta 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90-30 
WHEREAS, Seat Number One on the Pickens County Council is vacant due to the 

resignation of Claude V. Marchbanks, Jr., on November 5,1990; and 

WHEREAS, the residents of Seat Number One of Pickens County are currently 

without representation on county council; and 

WHEREAS, Section 4-11-20 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, (Cum. 

Supp. 1989) grants to the Governor discretionary authority to fill vacancies of county offices until 

such time as a successor shall qualify; and 

WHEREAS, I as Governor of the State of South Carolina, am mindful of the duties 

and responsibilities vested in me by the Constitution and the laws of this state. 

NOW, THEREFORE, I do hereby appoint Mr. Joseph C. Ellers of Post Office Box 

1201, Clemson, South Carolina 29633, a registered elector of Pickens County, to serve on Seat 

Number One of the Pickens County Council until his term for which he was elected shall 
,/ 

commence as provided by law. 

ATTEST: 

Jo6 T.CAMPBELL 
Secretary of State 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE STATE OF SOUTH 
CAROLINA, THIS (C; ~ DAY OF 

~J1Ci~J, 
CARROLL A CAMPBELL, JR. 
Governor 



~tnte nf ~nutq {fl:nrnIinn 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90-31 

FILED 
DEO 12 1990 

WHEREAS, the quality of the work force is one of the most important factors for 

all types of industry; and 

WHEREAS, South Carolina's business and industry cannot continue to compete 

effectively in today's marketplace unless their employees possess the skills and abilities to cope 

with demands placed on them by technological changes in the workplace; and 

WHEREAS, twenty-two percent (22%) ofthe persons in South Carolina have 

completed eight years or less of schooling; and 

WHEREAS, at least sixteen percent (16%) of the South Carolina work force has 

eight years or less of schooling; and 

WHEREAS, forty-two percent (42%) of South Carolinians have not received a 

hi.gh school diploma; and 

WHEREAS, those workers who ha~Te completed the eighth grade or less represent 

the population whose jobs are at risk of being changed beyond their ability level and who represent 

a base of South Carolinians who cannot raise their standard of living and income until they 

acquire the basic skills needed to improve or remain in their changing jobs; and 

WHEREAS, there are three established providers of adult educationlliteracy 

programs: literacy councils, adult education, and technical colleges' development education; and 
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WHEREAS, an official effort is necessary to coordinate the design and effective 

delivery of adult educationlliteracy services to employers. 

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of the powers conferred upon me by the 

Constitution and laws ofthis state, I hereby transfer the South Carolina Initiative on Work Force 

Excellence from the Governor's Office to the State Board for Technical and Comprehensive 

Education and create the Governor's Council on Work Force Excellence. This Council is 

responsible for overall policy development, long-range plans and recommendations, funding and 

evaluation of progress. 

Further, the Council must be assisted by the business roundtables at the local level. 

These business roundtables shall be responsible for creating partnerships between employers and 

the adult education/literacy service providers. The roundtables shall make recommendations for 

service delivery to the workplace, evaluate the quality of service, identify the needs for additional 

services, and be advocates for the initiative's mission. 

The Governor shall appoint the members of the Council and the members of each 

roundtable and all appointed members shall serve at the pleasure of the Governor. The Council 

shall make annual reports of progress to the Governor at the end of each fiscal year. The 

roundtables shall make periodic reports of their progress and recommendations to the Council. 

This Order takes effect immediately upon signature. 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE ~TE OF SOUTH 
CAROLlNA, TIDS I< - DAY OF 
D CEMBER, 1990. 

CARROLL A. CAMPBELL, JR. 
Governor 



EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90-32 

WHEREAS, John Land Johnson, Lexington County Probate Judge, 

has been indicted by the Lexington County Grand Jury of five counts: three 
counts for officials misconduct under Section 8-1-80 of the South Carolina Code of 
Laws ("Code"); one count for breach of trust with fraudulent intention under 

Section 16-.13-320 of the Code; and one count for embezzlement under Section 16-13·· 
210 of the Code; and 

WHEREAS, I am informed that John Land Johnson will be 

brought to trial pursuant to said indictments;and 

WHEREAS, Article VI, §8 of the South Carolina Constitution 

requires the Governor to suspend any officer of the State or its political 
subdivisions when it appears to the Governor's satisfaction that probable cause of 
embezzlement exists against such public officer in charge of public funds; and 

WHEREAS, I, as Governor of the State of South Carolina, am 

mindful of the duties and responsibilities vested in me by the Constitution and 
Laws of the State. 
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NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of such authority, it is ordered 

that John Land Johnson, Lexington County Probate Judge, be and hereby is 
suspended from that office until such time as he shall be formally acquitted, and 

that Dan Eckstrom, shall serve as acting Probate Judge until such time that Mr. 

Johnson shall be convicted or acquitted. 

If John Land Johnson's term expires before such time that this 
matter is brought to trial, then Mr. Eckstrom shall succeed Mr. Johnson for the 
four year term in which Mr. Eckstrom was duly elected by the citizens of 
Lexington County. 

This action in no manner addresses itself to the question of the guilt 

or innocence of John Land Johnson and shall not be construed as an expression of 

any opinion one way or another on the question. 

ATTEST: 

JbHNT. CAMPBELL 
Secretary of State 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND 
THE GREAT SEAL OF THE STATE 
O~OUTH CAROLINA, THIS 
--i!!-~.:....:..-.DAY OF DE E:MBER, 1990. 



~x~:cutil.l~ !l~partnt~ttt 

~tat£ of ~out4 <Uarolitta 

EXEClJTIVE ORDER NO. 90-33 

WHEREAS, Paul Alexander Simmons, Orangeburg County 
Coroner, has been convicted by the Federal Jury of one charge of violating 
21 U.S.C., §841(a)(l) and §846 which deals with attempting to possess with 
intent to distribute a quantity of cocaine. 

WHEREAS, Article VI, §8 of the South Carolina Constitution 
requires the Governor to declare vacant any office of the State or its 
political subdivision when the officer is convicted of a crime involving 
moral turpitude; and 

WHEREAS, Section 1-3-220, provides the Governor shall 
appoint someone to fill a vacancy in a county office until the next general 
election and until a successor shall qualify; and 

WHEREAS, I, as Governor of the State of South Carolina, am 
mindful of the duties and responsibilities vested in me by the Constitution 
and Laws of the State. 
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NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of such authority, it is 
ordered that the office of Orangeburg County Coroner, is hereby declared 
vacant and that Jim Adcock, the current acting Coroner, is appointed 
Orangeburg County Coroner until the next general election and a successor 
is elected and qualified. 

ATTEST: 

JOHN T. CAMPBElL 
Secretmy of State 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE SUTE OF SOUTH 
CAROLINA, TIllS tA ~ DAY OF 

~§:i9~~ 
Governor 



~tat~ of ~out4 (tlarolilta 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 
90·34 

WHEREAS, the Governor of South Carolina is vested with the 
authority to determine pursuant to the United States Constitution Article IV, §2, 
S. C. Code Ann. §§17-9-10 et seq. (1985), and the common law, whether or not to 
extradite a fugitive from justice; and 

. WHEREAS, pursuant to such laws the Governor can determine 

procedures to be followed in extradition matters; and 

WHEREAS, the expeditious return of fugitives who have executed a 

waiver of extradition in any form, including but not limited to provisions 
contained in a bond, probation agreement, or parole agreement, is in the best 
interests of South Carolina. 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Carroll A. Campbell, Jr., as Governor of 
South Carolina, direct by this Order that when South Carolina officials or officers 

receive reliable evidence, including but not limited to a photocopy, facsimile or 

similar copy of an original document received from the demanding state's 

governor, the fugitive may be immediately turned over to the appropriate agents of 
the demanding state without necessity of a formal requisition demand or 

execution of a governor's warrant. 
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This Order takes effect immediately upon signature. 

ATTEST: 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE S;~ OF SOUTH 
CAROLINA,THIS 1!J. DAY OF 

EMBER, 1990 

CARROLL A. CAMPBELL, 
Governor 



~tnte of ~out1y QInroiiltn 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90-35 

WHEREAS, the Auditor of McCormick County, Ms. Jewel P. 
McGrath, has announced her resignation effective January 1, 1991; and 

. WHEREAS, Virginia H. Edmunds, was duly elected on November 6, 
1990, as auditor of McCormick County for a term to begin on July 1,1991; and 

WHEREAS, Section 4-11-20, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976 

(1987 Cum. Supp.) empowers the Governor to fill vacancies in any office of any 

county of the state as provided therein; and 

WHEREAS, I, as Governor of the State of South Carolina, am 
mindful of the duty and responsibility vested in me by the Constitution and laws of 
this state. 

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of such authority, I hereby appoint 

Ms. Virginia Edmunds of Route 1, Box 296-C, McCormick, South Carolina 29835, 
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to fill the vacancy in the office of Auditor of McCormick County effective January 
1, 1991., and until she shall assume such office for the four year term for which 

she was duly elected by the citizens of McCormick County on November 6,1990. 

ATTEST: 

HNT.CAMPBE 
Secretary of State 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE STM'E OF SOUTH 
CAROLINA,TIDS 12~ DAYOF 

• DECEMBER,1990. 

\j,.~Q\J_~ 
CARROLL A. CAMPBELL, JR. 
Governor 



~x~rutil.l~ ~~partUt~ut 

~tate of ~out4 QIarolilta 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90-36 

ILED 
DEC .12 1998 

WHEREAS, the Auditor of Barnwell County, Ms. Irma C. Moore, 
has announced her resignation effective December 31, 1990; and 

WHEREAS, James G. Fickling, was duly elected on November 6, 
1990, as auditor of Barnwell County for a term to begin on July 1,1991; and 

WHEREAS, Section 4-11-20, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976 
(1987 Cum. Supp.) empowers the Governor to fill vacancies in any office of any 

county of the state as provided therein; and 

WHEREAS, I, as Governor of the State of South Carolina, am 
mindful of the duty and responsibility vested in me by the Constitution and laws of 

this state. 

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of such authority, I hereby appoint 
Mr. James G. Fickling ofP. O. Box 12, County Club Road, Blackville, South 
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Carolina 29817, to fill the vacancy in the office of Auditor of Barnwell County 

effective January 1, 199', and until he shall assume such office for the four year 
term for which he was duly elected by the citizens of Barnwell County on 
November 6,1990. 

ATTEST: 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE ,~ OF SOUTH 
CAROLINA, TIllS DAY OF 
DECEMBER,1990. 

CARROLL A. CAMPBELL, 
Governor 



lttx~cutiu~ ~~partm~ut 
'ECRETt';';' . 

f"" I L "_ "".J 

DEC17 1990 
11[pl'1i •...... ,j 

......... IooiiioIIiioO..;;;;;;.o\\ .~~::::.u~ .;,:~"~.~, .. L.~~..L~I",,J.~~ , 
~tate of ~outq QIaroliua 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90·37 

WHEREAS, the Chairman of the State Board of Financial 
Institutions, the President of the South Carolina Bankers Association, and the 

President of the South Carolina Savings and Loan League have requested that I 

declare for all State chartered banks and savings and loans that any day 
recognized by the federal government as a legal holiday may also be recognized as 

a State holiday, 

NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to §53-5-40 and §53-5-50 of the Code of 

Laws of South Carolina, 19761 I do hereby declare that State chartered banks and State 
chartered savings and loan associations may close on those holidays not recognized 

as State holidays but as federal holidays in 1991'0 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF nny fi(I'E OF SOUTH 
CAROLINA, TIllS DAY OF 

ECEMBER, 1990. 

Governor 

ATTEST: 



--- -:"--, 

DEC .1.7. 1990 

,1, 

~tut~ nf ~nut4 Olurnliuu 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90-38 

WHEREAS, the Treasurer of McCormick County, Ms. Frances W. 
Sibert, has announced her resignation effective January 1, 1991; and 

WHEREAS, Ms. Glenda Q. Wright, was duly elected on November 6, 
1990, as Treasurer of McCormick County for a term to begin on July 1,1991; and 

WHEREAS, Section 4-11-20, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976 

(1987 Cum. Supp.) empowers the Governor to fill vacancies in any office of any 

county of the state as provided therein; and 

WHEREAS, I, as Governor of the State of South Carolina, am 

mindful of the duty and responsibility vested in me by the Constitution and laws of 

this state. 

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of such authority, I hereby appoint 

Mrs. Glenda Q. Wright, Route 2, Box 40-B, McCormick, South Carolina 29835, . 

j 

- I 

I 
I 
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to fill the vacancy in the office of Treasurer of McCormick County effective 
January 1, 1991, and until she shall assume such office for the four year term for 
which she was duly elected by the citizens of McCormick County on November 6, 
1990. 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE STAa'E OF SOUTH 
CAROliNA, THIS 1 g ~ DAY OF 
DECEMBER, 1990. 

\jw~u~ 
CARROLL A. CAMPBELL 
Governor 



I 
~tntc nf ~nut4 <!Inrnlinn 

" 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90-39 

WHEREAS, THE BOARD OF STATE CANVASSERS DETERMINED 
THAT THE ELECTION FOR ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL, DISTRICT 4 
HELD ON NOVEMBER 6, 1990, MUST BE SET ASIDE; AND 

. WHEltEAS, I HAVE BEEN DULY NOTIFIED BY rfHE SOUTH 
CAROLINA ELECTION COMMISSION AND REQUESTED TO ORDER A 
SPECIAL ELECTION PURSUANT TO THE AUTHORITY VESTED IN ME BY 
SECTION 7-13-1170, CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, (CUM. 
SUPP. 1989) ("CODE"). 

NOW, THEREFORE, UNDER THE AUTHORITY VESTED IN ME 
BY SECTION 7-13-1170, OF THE CODE, I HEREBY ORDER THAT AN 

ELECTION BE HELD FOR ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL, DISTRICT 4 ON 

MARCH 26,1991. THE ELECTION SHALL BE CONDUCTED BY THE 

ANDERSON COUNTY ELECTION COMMISSION IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

APPLICABLE CONSTITUTIONAL AND STAUTORY PROVISIONS. THE 
VOTING PLACES TO BE USED IN CONDUCTING THE ELECTION SHALL BE 
THE ESTABLISHED PRECINCT VOTING PLACES. 

!'" 

I! 
I 

\: 
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NOTICE OF THE HOLDING OF THIS ELECTION SHALL BE GIVEN BY 

THE RESPECTIVE AUTHORITY CHARGED BY LAW WITH CONDUCTING 

AN ELECTION IN ANDERSON COUNTY IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 7-

13-35 OF THE CODE. 

ATTEST: 

JO~ T. CAMPBELL 
Secretary of State 

" 
. " 

GIVEN UNDER MY BAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE STATE OF SOUTH 
CAROLINA,TmS \'", 't:~- DAY OF 
DECEMBER, 1990. 

Governor 

," 

I 
I 
ji 

i 

I! 



~tatc nf ~nut~ QIarnlina 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90·40 

WHEREAS, Roger Leaks, Jr. has been called into active service by 
the United States Army Reserves pursuant to the mobilization of US forces in thE~ 
Persian Gulf; and 

WHEREAS, Roger Leaks, Jr. currently serves as a member of the 
State Election Commission; 

WHEREAS, Section 8-7-10, 20, 30 and 40 of the South Carolina Code of 

Laws, 1976 ("Code") gives the Governor the power to appoint temporarily a person 
with suitable qualifications to fill any office or position by reason of the absence of 
the officer in the military service of the United States; and 

WHEREAS, I am mindful of the obligations and duties placed upon 
me by the statues and Constitution of South Carolina. 

. NOW, THEREFORE, I hereby appoint Samuel Wilson Howell, IV, to 
temp,orarily replace Roger Leaks, Jr. as a member of the State Election 
Co~ission, and, pursuant to Section 8-7-50, to exercise all the rights, powers, 
I,luthority, and jurisdiction and to perform the duties vested in or required by law 
of State Election Commission,members. Sam Howell shall serve during the 
absence of Roger Leaks in military service or until expiration of Mr. Leak's term, 
whichever period of time is shorter. Mr. Leaks shall be entitled to ·resume service 
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on the Commission upon his return after thirty days (30) notice in writing to this 
Office and the State Election Commission, provided that he returns prior to the 
expiration of his term. 

ATTEST: 

J6HN T. CAMPBELL 
Secretary of State 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE/STilE OF SOUTII 
CAROLINA, TIDS & DAY OF 

~~;. 
Governor 



.' 
~tnte of ~outq aInroIil1n 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90-41 

WHEREAS, there now exists a vacancy on the School District Board 
of Trustees of Williamsburg County due to the resignation of Mr. Ronnie A. Sabb; 
and 

WHEREAS, the voters of Williamsburg County are currently without 
full representation on the School District Board of Trustees; and 

WHEREAS, I have been duly notified by the Williamsburg County 

Election Commission and requested to order a special election pursuant to the 
authority vested in me by Section 7-13-1170, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, 
(Cum. Supp. 1989) ("Code"). 

NOW, THEREFORE, under the authority vested in me by Section 7-
13-1170 of the Code, I hereby order that an election be held for the School District 
Board of Trustees of Williamsburg County on March 5,1991. The election shall be 

conducted by the Williamsburg County Election Commission in accordance with 
applicable constitutional and statutory provisions. The voting places to be used in 
conducting the election shall be the established precinct voting places. 
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Notice of the holding of this election shall be given by the respective 
authority charged by law with conducting an election in Williamsburg County in 
accordance with Section 7-13-35 of the Code. 

ATTEST: 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE STATE OF SOUTH 
CAROLINA, TIDS 1'1· DAY OF 
DECEMBER, 1990. 

~·..ro~·IPJL CARROLL A. CJiLL, . V 
Governor 

i' , 



~tat:e nf ~nutq <!rarnlina 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90-42 

WHEREAS, the Auditor of Saluda County, Mr. Robert R. Able, has 

announced his resignation effective December 31, 1990; and 

. WHEREAS, Jane B. Guy, was duly elected on November 6,1990, as 
Auditor of Saluda County for a term to begin on July 1, 1991; and 

WHEREAS, Section 4-11-20, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976 

(1987 Cum. Supp.) empowers the Governor to fill vacancies in any office of any 

county of the state as provided therein; and 

WHEREAS, I, as Governor of the State of South Carolina, am 
mindful of the duty and responsibility vested in me by the Constitution and laws of 

this state. 

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of such authority, I hereby appoint 

Ms. Jane Beckham. Guy of Route 4, P. O. Box 195, Saluda, South Carolina 29138, 
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to fill the vacancy in the office of Auditor of Saluda County effective January 1, 

1991, and until she shall assume such office for the four year term for which she 
was duly elected by the citizens of Saluda County on November 6,1990. 

lIN T. CAMPBElL 
I. Secretary of State 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE STATE OF SOUTH 
CAROLINA, TInS qz.( ~ DAY OF 
DECEMBER, 1990. 

~.JQuQ:M. 
CARROlL A CAMPBElL, JR. ~ 
Governor 



DEC 27 1990 

~tate of ~out~ <!tarolitta 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90-43 
WHEREAS, Seat Number Three ofthe York County Council is vacant due to the 

death of Mr. J. B. Comer, on November 26, 1990; and 

WHEREAS, the residents of Seat Number Three of York County are currently 

without representation on County Council; and 

WHEREAS, Section 4-11-20 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, (Cum. 

Supp. 1989) grants to the Governor discretionary authority to fill vacancies of county offices until 

such time as a successor shall qualify; and 

WHEREAS, I, as Governor of the State of South Carolina, am mindful of the 

duties and responsibilities vested in me by the Constitution and the laws of this state. 

NOW, THEREFORE, I do hereby appoint Ms. Jane Comer Gilfillan of 790 Kelly 

Road, York, South Carolina 29745, a registered elector of York County, to serve on Seat Number 

Three of the York County Council until a successor is elected and qualified. 

ATTEST: 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF THE SAATE OF SOUTH 
CAROLINA, TIDS r2 7g".. DAY OF 
D EMBER, 1990. 

CARROLL A. CAMPBELL, 
Governor 



'7.'t.JA~" 
·-~:~:,·~~t7:i\("'·~7~'i':r::'r,li;.~nt----

t- ~ E: [) 
3 1 1990 

I 

~tatc nf ~nut~ aIarnlitta 

EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 90·44 

WHEREAS, there now exists a vacancy on the Gifford Town Council; 
and 

. WHEREAS, the voters of Gifford are currently without full 
representation on the Gifford Town Council; and 

WHEREAS, I have been duly notified by the Town of Gifford Election 
Commission and requested to order a special election pursuant to the authority 
vested in me by Section 7-13-1170, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, (Cum. 
Supp. 1989) ("Code"). 

NOW, THEREFORE, under the authority vested in me by Section 7-
13-1170 of the Code, I hereby order that an election be held for the Gifford Town 

Council on April 2, 1991. The election shall be conducted by the Town of Gifford 

Election Commission in accordance with applicable constitutional and statutory 
provisions. The voting places to be used in conducting the election shall be the 

established precinct voting places. 
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Notice of the holding of this election shall be given by the respective 
authority charged by law with conducting an election in the Town of Gifford in 

accordance with Section 7-13-35 of the Code. 

ATTEST: 

JOHN T. CAMPBElL 
Secretary of State 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND THE 
GREAT SEAL OF ~~TE OF SOUTH 
CAROLINA, TIllS ;r DAY OF 
DECEMBER, 1990. 

~c~~) 
Governor 
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